#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \*

S.C. NO.

D.C. NO:

JENNIFER V. ABRAMS; AND THE ABRAMS & MAYO LAW FIRM,

Appellant,

VS.

STEVE W. SANSON; VETERANS IN POLITICS INTERNATIONAL, INC; LOUIS C. SCHNEIDER; AND LAW OFFICES OF LOUIS C. SCHNEIDER, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Dec 06 2018 08:27 a.m.
Elizabeth At Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Attorney for Appellant:
Marshal S. Willick, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2515
WILLICK LAW GROUP
3591 East Bonanza Road, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89110-2101
(702) 438-4100
Email: email@willicklawgroup.com

Dennis L. Kennedy, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 1462
Joshua P. Gilmore, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11576
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148
(702) 562-8820
Email: <u>Dkennedy@BaileyKennedy.com</u>
<u>Jgilmore@BaileyKennedy.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondents:
Maggie McLetchie, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10931
MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC
701 E Bridger Avenue, #520,
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 728-5300
Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com
Attorney for Sanson Parties

Joseph W. Houston, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1440 430 S. Seventh St. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 982-1200 Email: jwh7408@yahoo.com Attorney for Schneider Parties

## NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These representations are made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal. In the course of these proceedings leading up to this appeal, Appellant has been represented by the following attorneys:

- a. Marshal S. Willick, Esq., WILLICK LAW GROUP, attorney of record for Appellant/Plaintiff.
- b. Dennis L. Kennedy, Esq., and Joshua P. Gilmore, Esq., BAILEY KENNEDY, attorney of record for Appellant/Plaintiff.

There are no corporations, entities, or publicly-held companies that own 10% or more of Plaintiff's stock, or business interests.

**DATED** this \_\_\_\_ day of , 2018.

Respectfully Submitted By: WILLICK LAW GROUP

MARSHAL S. WILLICK, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 2515 3591 East Bonanza Road, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89110-2101 email@willicklawgroup.com Attorney for Appellant

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ROU'	TING	<b>STATEMENT</b>
STAT	EME	NT OF THE ISSUES
JURI	SDIC	TIONAL STATEMENT
STAT	EME	<b>NT OF CASE</b>
STAT	EME	NT OF FACTS 4
I.	INTR	<b>RODUCTION</b> 4
II.	PRE-	COMPLAINT FACTUAL HISTORY 7
III.	SANS	SON AND VIPI
IV.	THE	<b>DEFAMATION CAMPAIGNS</b>
V.	EXT	ORTION AND JUDICIAL INTIMIDATION
VI.	WILL	<i>LICK</i>
VII.	EVE	NTS AFTER THE SAITER ORDER
VIII.	THE	HEARINGS LEADING TO THE APPEALS
IX.	THE	<b>DISQUALIFICATION MOTION AND RE-ASSIGNMENT</b> 33
STAN	NDAR	D OF REVIEW AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 38
ARG	UME	<b>NT</b> 41
I.	RESI ENTI	PONDENTS' DEFAMATION CAMPAIGN IS NOT ITLED TO ANTI-SLAPP PROTECTION
	<b>A.</b>	Sanson and Schneider Have Admitted that the Defamation Campaign was Intended for Extortion
	В.	If There Was Any Doubt, the District Court Should Have Permitted Limited Discovery as Authorized by Statute Concerning the Relationship Between Schneider and Sanson 46
II.	RESI THE	PONDENTS' FAILED TO MEET THEIR BURDEN UNDER FIRST PRONG OF THE ANTI-SLAPP ANALYSIS
	<b>A.</b>	Respondents Failed to Show that they Were Sued for Making Truthful Statements About the Abrams Parties, or that they Were Unaware of the Falsity of their Statements 51

В.	Respondents Failed to Show that they Were Sued for Making Statements in Direct Connection with Issues of Public Interest						
C.	Respondents Failed to Show that Private Email Blasts Constitute Communications Made in a Public Forum						
D.	The Abrams Parties Met their Burden of Establishing that their Claims Have at Least "Minimal Merit" Under the Second Prong of the Anti-SLAPP Analysis 63						
	1.	Stan	dard o	f Decision			
	2.	. The Abrams Parties' Claims Ha "Minimal Merit"		ns Parties' Claims Have at Least Merit"65			
		a.	Defa	mation			
			(1)	General Legal Principles Regarding Defamation			
			(2)	Respondents Repeatedly and Shamelessly Defamed Abrams 68			
		b.	False	Light72			
		c.	Busi	ness Disparagement			
		d.	Inter	tional Infliction of Emotional Distress 77			
		e.	The .	Accessory Liability Claims 79			
CONCLUSION							

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# FEDERAL CASES

Ark. Educ. TV. v. Forbes, 523 U.S. 666 (1998)
Beltz Travel Serv., Inc. v. Int'l Air Transp. Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360 (9th Cir. 1980) 43
Browne v. McCain, 611 F. Supp. 2d 1062 (C.D. Cal. 2009)
Davis v. Elec. Arts Inc., 775 F.3d 1172 (9th Cir. 2015), cert. denied, 136 S. Ct. 1448, 194 L. Ed. 2d 549 (2016)
Dehne v. Avanino, 219 F. Supp. 2d 1096 (D. Nev. 2001)
Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323 (1974)
Held v. Pokorny, 583 F. Supp. 1038 (S.D.N.Y. 1984)
<i>Ivey v. Spilotro</i> , No. 2:11-CV-02044-RCJ, 2012 WL 2788980, at *4 (D. Nev. July 9, 2012)
Krishna Soc'y v. Lee, 505 U.S. 672 (1992)
Leonard v. Aruda, No. A143518, 2015 WL 5095967
Machleder v. Diaz, 801 F.2d 46 (2d Cir. 1986)
Pacquiao v. Mayweather, No. 2:09-CV-2448-LRH-RJJ, 2010 WL 1439100, at *1 (D. Nev. Apr. 9, 2010)
Piping Rock Partners, Inc. v. David Lerner Assocs., Inc., 946 F. Supp. 2d 957 (N.D. Cal. 2013), aff'd, 609 F. App'x 497 (9th Cir. 2015) 55, 57, 64
SPG Artist Media, LLC v. Primesties, Inc., No. 69078, 2017 WL 897756 39
Sengchanthalangsy v. Accelerated Recovery Specialists, Inc., 473 F. Supp. 2d 1083 (S.D. Cal. 2007)
Standing Comm. on Discipline of U.S. Dist. Court for Cent. Dist. of Cal. v. Yagman, 55 F.3d 1430 (9th Cir. 1995)
Toler v. Dostal, No. A118793, 2009 WL 1163492 60
Wachs v. Winter, 569 F. Supp. 1438 (E.D.N.Y.1983)
Weiss v. Occidental Coll, No. B170384, 2004 WL 2502188
Weiss, No. B170384, 2004 WL 2502188 58
Yoder v. Workman, 224 F. Supp. 2d 1077 (S.D.W. Va. 2002) 69

# **STATE CASES**

Baker ex rel. Hall Brake Supply, Inc. v. Stewart Title & Trust of Phoenix, Inc., 5 P.3d 249 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2000)
Blasch v. Walgreen Co., 127 Nev. 832, 264 P.3d 1155 (2011)
Bongiovi v. Sullivan, 122 Nev. 556, 138 P.3d 433 (2006)
Branda v. Sanford, 97 Nev. 643, 637 P.2d 1223 (1981) 67, 71
Cadle Co. v. Woods & Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev, 345 P.3d 1049
(Adv. Opn. No. 15, Mar. 26, 2015)
Carson City District Attorney v. Ryder, 116 Nev. 502, 998 P.2d 1186 (2000) 41
Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Virtual Educ. Software, Inc., 125 Nev. 374, 213 P.3d 496 (2009)
Commonwealth Energy Corp. v. Investor Data Exchange, Inc., 1 Cal. Rptr. 3d (Cal. Ct. App. 2003)
Consol. Generator-Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co., 114 Nev. 1304, 971 P.2d 1251 (1998)
Coretronic Corp. v. Cozen O'Connor, 121 Cal. Rptr. 3d (Cal. Ct. App. 2011) 50
Delucchi v. Songer, 133 Nev, 396 P.3d 826 (Adv. Op. 42, Jun. 29, 2017) 54
Du Charme v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, 1 Cal. Rptr. 3d (Cal. Ct. App.
2003)