IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JENNIFER V. ABRAMS; AND THE
ABRAMS & MAYO LAW FIRM,
Appellants,

vs.

STEVE W. SANSON; VETERANS
IN POLITICS INTERNATIONAL,
INC; LOUIS C. SCHNEIDER; AND
THE LAW OFFICES OF LOUIS C.
SCHNEIDER, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Feb 25 2019 09:40 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO.: 73838 / 75834

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

The Honorable Michelle Leavitt, District Judge

District Court Case No. A-17-749318-C

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931

Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711

MCLETCHIE LAW

701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520

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

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Properly Applied the Anti-SLAPP Legal Standard.

The district court, applying the two-part test outlined in Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a) and this Court’s interpreting case law, properly evaluated the statements at issue in this case and found that the Abrams Parties’ claims were based upon good faith communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern. (VI AA980.)

As a preliminary matter, the Abrams Parties mistake the applicable test in arguing that the district court, “before undertaking an anti-SLAPP analysis, should

have proceeded as follows: first, questioning whether the statements were made for an improper purpose; and second, questioning whether the statements were false and defamatory in nature when reviewed in context.” (OB, p. 42.)

The Abrams Parties, however, do not cite any case law or statute that requires the district court to undergo a “preliminary analysis” as to whether the Anti-SLAPP statute “applies.” This is because there is none—such an analysis is wholly subsumed by the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis. The Abrams Parties’ argument is nothing more than an attempt to evade the statutorily-mandated Anti-SLAPP analysis under which their suit was dismissed.

As the district court correctly explained, “[c]ourts must evaluate a special Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss using a two-step process. First, the moving party must establish by a preponderance of the evidence ‘that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.’” (VI AA 980 (Order, ¶ 34 (quoting Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a))).) Statements made for an “improper purpose” or untrue statements made with knowledge of their falsehood are, by definition, not “good faith communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.” *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637 (defining such “good faith communications” as, *inter alia*, a “[c]ommunication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a

place open to the public or in a public forum which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.”). As detailed below, the statements at issue are all good faith communications because they were true statements of fact or statements of opinion made in a public forum regarding issues of public interest. Further, the district court properly found that the Abrams Parties did not establish a probability of success on the merits. Thus, this Court must affirm the district court’s order in its entirety.

B. The District Court Correctly Held that the Sanson Parties Met Their Burdens Under the First Prong of the Anti-SLAPP Analysis.

To prevail in an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, the moving party must first establish by a preponderance of the evidence “that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.” Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.660(3)(a). Nevada’s Anti-SLAPP statute requires that a good faith communication must “truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood.” Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637. For the reasons discussed below, the district court properly found that the statements the Abrams Parties complain of were either statements of opinion—which this Court

has said cannot be false³—or were truthful. (VI AA984-85.) Additionally, as also discussed below, the district court correctly found that the statements pertained to an issue of public concern. (VI AA981-83.)

1. The Statements at Issue Are Truthful, Made Without Knowledge of Falsehood, or Non-Actionable Opinions Incapable of Being True or False.

Nevada’s Anti-SLAPP statute requires that a good faith communication be “truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood.” Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637. The Abrams Parties argue the Sanson Parties “failed to offer any evidence that their defamatory posts were true or made without knowledge of their falsehood.” (OB, p. 52.) This argument, however, ignores that statements of opinion cannot be made with knowledge of their falsehood because there is no such thing as a false idea. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87. However pernicious opinions may seem, courts depend on the competition of other ideas, rather than judges and juries, to correct them. *Id.* The court must therefore ask “whether a reasonable person would be likely to understand the remark as an expression of the source’s opinion or as a statement of existing fact.” *Id.* at 715.

³ *Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 118 Nev. 706, 714, 57 P.3d 82, 87 (2002) (“Statements of opinion cannot be defamatory because there is no such thing as a false idea.”) (internal quotation omitted); *see also Nevada Indep. Broad. Corp. v. Allen*, 99 Nev. 404, 410, 664 P.2d 337, 341 (1983) (“[S]tatements of opinion as opposed to statements of fact are not actionable”).

Although the Abrams Parties attempt to mischaracterize the Sanson Parties' articles as defamatory, the articles contain the Sanson Parties' non-actionable truthful statements and non-actionable opinions. Thus, as demonstrated below, these communications meet the threshold of good faith communication protected by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.637.

a) The “Attack Article” and Courtroom Video Are a Good Faith Communication.

The Abrams Parties contend that the Sanson Parties' October 5, 2016 “Attack Article” and contemporaneous YouTube video of the *Saiter* Hearing contained several false statements. (OB, p. 16.) The video cannot possibly be considered defamatory because it is a real video of an actual proceeding. *Kegel v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp.*, No. 306-CV-00093-LRH-VPC, 2009 WL 656372, at *17 (D. Nev. Mar. 10, 2009), *on reconsideration in part*, No. 3:06-CV-00093LRHVPC, 2009 WL 3125482 (D. Nev. Sept. 24, 2009) (“the truthful statements relating to the admittedly accurate contents of the video cannot form the basis of Plaintiff’s defamation claim”). Further, the statements the Abrams Parties complain of either do not appear in the article or are statements of opinions (even as characterized by the Abrams Parties) which cannot be true or false.

i. Whether Ms. Abrams “Attacked” a Clark County Family Court Judge in Open Court is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

The headline of the “Attack Article” reads “Nevada Attorney attacks a Clark

County Family Court Judge in Open Court.” (I AA127.) Whether Ms. Abrams’ heated exchanges with Judge Elliot in the September 29, 2016 hearing constituted an “attack” is a matter of opinion and thus incapable of being proven true or false. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87. Some observers, may interpret Abrams’ interrupting Judge Elliot (“excuse me I was in the middle of a sentence”) and questioning Judge Elliot’s impartiality (“is there any relationship between you and [opposing counsel] Louis Schneider?”) as an “attack.” Even if Ms. Abrams interprets her actions as zealous advocacy and approves of her own behavior, this is an instance where the Abrams Parties have merely alleged that the Sanson Parties have voiced an opinion, and thus it is a good faith communication.

ii. Whether Ms. Abrams is Unethical is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

The Abrams Parties argue that the “Attack Article,” the Sanson Parties asserted that Ms. Abrams’ “actions constituted unethical or unlawful conduct that must be reported to the Nevada State Bar.” (OB, p. 16.) Nowhere in the “Attack Article” does Mr. Sanson call Abrams “unethical.” (*See* I AA127-31.⁴) The Abrams

⁴ Indeed, the Abrams Parties conceded at the June 5 hearing that the “Attack Article” does not call Ms. Abrams unethical:

THE COURT: . . . I’m just – there’s nowhere in here does it Ms. Abrams is unethical.

MR. GILMORE: Point blank, you’re right.

(VI AA924, ll. 9-11.)

Parties also assert the “Attack Article” “falsely represents that Judge Elliot ‘found’ Abrams to be ‘unethical’ and that Abrams permitted her client to mislead the Court.” (OB, p. 16.) Again, however, these alleged statements *do not appear anywhere in the article*. (I AA127-31.) In fact, the word “unethical” does not even appear in the article.

The word “ethical” appears three times: twice in written excerpts of Judge Elliot’s statements in the September 29 hearing, and once in reference to a judicial duty to report attorney ethical problems. (*Id.*) Reprinting Judge Elliot’s verbatim statements cannot be defamatory, nor can a statement that judges must report on lawyers who act unethically in their courtrooms. Furthermore, even if Mr. Sanson did call Abrams’ behavior “unethical,” it would be a constitutionally protected statement of opinion. *See Wait v. Beck’s North Am., Inc.*, 241 F. Supp.2d 172, 183 (N.D.N.Y. 2003) (“Statements that someone has acted unprofessionally or unethically generally are constitutionally protected statements of opinion.”). Thus, these are good faith communications.

iii. Whether There is a “Problem” Requiring Ms. Abrams to be Reported to the Nevada State Bar is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Nowhere in the “Attack Article” does Mr. Sanson purport that there is a problem requiring Ms. Abrams to be reported to the Nevada State Bar. The article merely says “[i]f there is an ethical problem or the law has been broken by an

attorney the Judge is mandated by law to report it to the Nevada State Bar or a governing agency that could deal with the problem appropriately.” (I AA130-31.) This is not a statement of fact about Ms. Abrams, and thus it is a good faith communication incapable of being proven true or false. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87. Even if it were a statement about Ms. Abrams, a person is entitled to his or her own interpretation of the ethical rules, and while an attorney may simply view herself as zealous, others observing her behavior can reasonably find it both rude to the judge and unethical.

iv. Whether Ms. Abrams “Crossed The Line With a Clark County District Court Judge” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

In the “Attack Article,” Mr. Sanson asks “what happens when a Divorce Attorney crosses the line with a Clark County District Court Judge Family Division?” (I AA127-28.) Again, whether Ms. Abrams “crossed the line” in her interactions with Judge Elliot in the September 29 hearing is a matter of opinion. Whereas some may view Ms. Abrams’ interactions with Judge Elliot as perfectly acceptable advocacy, others, such as Mr. Sanson, view them as crossing an imagined line of decorum. Nobody can say, as a matter of objective fact, where this “line” is, much less whether someone has crossed it. Stating that Abrams “crossed a line” is merely an opinion, and thus a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

b) The “Bully Article” Is a Good Faith Communication.

The Abrams Parties next contend that Mr. Sanson made five different “false and defamatory” statements in the “Bully Article.” (OB, p. 17.) However, the statements contained in the article are non-actionable statements of opinions, and thus good faith communications. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

i. Whether Ms. Abrams “Bullied” Judge Elliot Into Issuing the Order Prohibiting Dissemination of Case Material is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

The subtitle to the “Bully Article” states “District Court Judge Bullied by Family Attorney Jennifer Abrams.” (I AA133.) Under the law set forth above, this statement is a good faith communication of opinion, and thus incapable of being false.⁵ Although the “bullied” characterization is an opinion, it is a truthful statement of fact that Abrams convinced Judge Elliot to issue the order that is discussed in the Bully Article. Moreover, as detailed above, Ms. Abrams’ behavior was certainly an issue at the *Saiter* Hearing.

ii. Whether Ms. Abrams’ In-Court Behavior is “Disrespectful and Obstructionist” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

In the “Bully Article,” Mr. Sanson opined that Ms. Abrams’ in-court behavior during the *Saiter* Hearing was “disrespectful and obstructionist.” (I AA134.)

⁵ The district court touched on the tenuous nature of the Abrams Parties’ claim that referring to Ms. Abrams’ behavior as “bullying” was incapable of being true or false, stating “I’m just kind of wondering how you can prove truth or false if someone is a bully.” (VI AA921, ll. 7-8.)

Whether Ms. Abrams’ behavior in the *Saiter* Hearing was “disrespectful” or “obstructionist” (or both) is a matter of opinion. There are no objective standards for what constitutes “disrespectful” or “obstructionist” behavior in the courtroom. Because this statement is opinion and not a statement of fact, it is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

iii. Whether Ms. Abrams “Misbehaved” in Court is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether Ms. Abrams “misbehaved” during the *Saiter* Hearing (*see* I AA134 (characterizing Ms. Abrams’ conduct during the *Saiter* Hearing as “misbehavior”)) is a matter of opinion. There are no objective standards for what constitutes “misbehavior” in the courtroom. Because this statement is opinion and not a statement of fact, it is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

iv. Whether Ms. Abrams’ Behavior is “Embarrassing” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether Ms. Abrams’ behavior during the September 29, 2016 hearing was “embarrassing” is a matter of opinion. (I AA134 (characterizing Ms. Abrams’ in-court behavior as “embarrassing”).) There are no objective standards for what constitutes “embarrassing” behavior in the courtroom. Because this statement is Mr. Sanson’s opinion and not a statement of fact, it is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

v. Judge Elliot's Order Appears to be "An Attempt by Abrams to Hide Her Behavior From The Rest Of The Legal Community And The Public" is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether the order discussed in the "Bully Article" is part of an attempt by Ms. Abrams to "hide her behavior" from the legal community and the public (I AA134) is not a statement of fact. Rather, it is an expression of the Sanson Parties' opinion regarding Ms. Abrams' legal tactics. Thus, it is not defamatory, but rather a good faith communication of opinion. *See, e.g., Partington v. Bugliosi*, 56 F.3d 1147, 1153 (9th Cir. 1995) ("[T]he book's general tenor makes clear that Bugliosi's observations about Partington's trial strategies, and the implications that Partington contends arise from them, represent statements of personal viewpoint, not assertions of an objective fact").

c) The "Seal Happy" Article Is a Good Faith Communication.

The Abrams Parties contend that Mr. Sanson made nine different "false and misleading" statements in the "Seal Happy" Article. (OB, pp. 17-18; *see also* I AA139-49 (article).) However, the listed statements are non-actionable statements of opinions or true statements of fact, and thus good faith communications.

i. Whether Ms. Abrams "Appears to be 'Seal-Happy'" is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether Abrams is "seal-happy" is a matter of opinion. There are no objective standards for what constitutes being "seal-happy," nor should this Court entertain a

line-drawing problem of determining how many times a lawyer must request her cases be sealed before she becomes “seal-happy.”⁶ Rather, because “seal-happiness” is purely a matter of opinion, this statement is not a statement of fact, and thus is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

ii. Whether Ms. Abrams Seals Cases in Contravention of “Openness and Transparency” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether sealing cases is an affront to “openness and transparency” is a matter of opinion. Some advocates for transparency and public access to the courts may view sealing cases as contravening the court’s “openness and transparency,” while others may view sealing cases as zealous advocacy that values a client’s privacy interests. Thus, this statement is not a statement of fact and is instead a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

iii. Whether Ms. Abrams’ Sealing of Cases is Intended “To Protect Her Own Reputation, Rather Than to Serve a Compelling Client Privacy or Safety Interest” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

As with the statement in the Bully Article regarding Abrams allegedly attempting “to hide her behavior from the rest of the legal community and the public,” speculation regarding the motives behind Ms. Abrams’ litigation tactics is

⁶ Even if “seal happiness” were a factual determination, the Abrams Parties have not demonstrated that it places Ms. Abrams in a negative light. Indeed, potential litigants who desire their family court proceedings to transpire in private may seek out Ms. Abrams *because* she is “seal happy.”

a statement of opinion, not fact, and therefore is a good faith communication. *See Partington*, 56 F.3d at 1153; *accord Gardner v. Martino*, 563 F.3d 981, 987 (9th Cir. 2009).

iv. Whether Ms. Abrams Engaged in “Judicial Browbeating” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

A statement about whether Ms. Abrams engaged in “judicial browbeating” is also not defamatory. This statement, interpreted in context, is one that a reasonable person would interpret as Mr. Sanson’s negative opinion of Ms. Abrams convincing Judge Elliot to promulgate an overly-broad order prohibiting public distribution of video transcripts of the *Saiter* Hearing. Thus, is it a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

v. Whether Ms. Abrams Obtained an Order That “is Specifically Disallowed by Law” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Disagreement about what the law does or does not allow is the bread and butter of the legal profession. If attorneys and members of the public were not permitted to disagree about the interpretation of law, then the entire practice of law would be obviated. Thus, this statement is good faith communication because it is a statement of opinion. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87. Furthermore, such an order was issues and was found unconstitutional.

vi. Whether Ms. Abrams Obtained the Order Against the “General Public” With “No Opportunity to be Heard” is a True Statement of Fact.

As noted above, a statement of fact that is “absolutely true, or substantially true” is not defamatory. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 715, 52 P.3d at 88. In this instance, it is true that Ms. Abrams obtained the order described in the “Seal Happy” Article. (*see, e.g.*, I AA147-48.) And it is also true that Ms. Abrams obtained the order without allowing for any member of the public to weigh in on the order. Thus, this is a good faith communication of a true statement of fact. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 715, 52 P.3d at 88.

vii. Whether Mr. Sanson and VIPI Were “Contacted by Judges, Attorneys and Litigants Eager to Share Similar Battle-Worn Experiences With Jennifer Abrams” is a True Statement of Fact.

This statement is a true statement of fact, and thus not actionable. (III AA 407 (Sanson Declaration, ¶ 5).) Moreover, it is unclear how Ms. Abrams would be able to know whether this is a false statement, as she was not a party to any of the conversations that took place between defendants and certain members of the legal community. Thus, this is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 715, 52 P.3d at 88.

viii. Whether Ms. Abrams Obtained an “Overbroad, Unsubstantiated Order to Seal and Hide the Lawyer’s Actions” is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

As discussed *supra*, this is merely an expression of the Sanson Parties’

opinion regarding Ms. Abrams’ legal tactics and Judge Elliot’s order, and thus is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

ix. Whether Ms. Abrams is an “Over-Zealous, Disrespectful Lawyer[] Who Obstruct[s] the Judicial Process and Seek[s] to Stop the Public From Having Access to Otherwise Public Documents is a Matter of Opinion and Thus Incapable of Being False.

Whether Ms. Abrams is “overzealous” or “disrespectful” are matters of opinion. There are no objective standards for what constitutes being “overzealous” or “disrespectful.” Furthermore, whether sealing cases—a tactic which does, in fact, stop the public from having access to otherwise public records of legal proceedings—obstructs the judicial process is a matter of opinion that cannot be proven true or false. Thus, this statement cannot be defamatory and is instead a good faith communication. *See, e.g., Lieberman v. Fieger*, 338 F.3d 1076, 1081 (9th Cir. 2003) (comments made by attorney during televised interview that a psychiatrist who had served as expert witness in highly publicized murder trial was “Looney Tunes,” “crazy,” “nuts,” and “mentally imbalanced,” were protected under First Amendment as statements of opinion).

d) The “Acting Badly Article” Is a Good Faith Communication.

The Abrams Parties contend that Mr. Sanson defamed Ms. Abrams by “again accus[ing] Abrams of bullying Judge Elliot” in the *Saiter* case. (OB, p. 71.) As discussed above, however, whether a person’s behavior is “bullying” is purely a

matter of opinion, and thus not susceptible to being either true or false. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

e) The “Deceives” Article Is a Good Faith Communication.

Although the reader of the Abrams Parties’ Opening Brief is required to hunt around for the precise statements the Abrams Parties contend are false in the “Deceives Article,” it appears that the Abrams Parties contend that Mr. Sanson falsely stated that Ms. Abrams sealed family cases to “cover [her] own bad behavior[.]” (*See* OB, p. 71.) However, as discussed *supra*, this is merely an expression of Defendants’ opinion regarding Abrams’ legal tactics, and thus is a good faith communication. *Pegasus*, 118 Nev. at 714, 57 P.3d at 87.

2. The Statements at Issue Are Directly Connected with an Issue of Public Concern.

The district court correctly held that the Sanson Parties’ communications concerned matters of public interest. (VI AA981 (Order, ¶ 38).) The district court enumerated several bases for this determination. It noted that criticism of a professional’s on-the-job performance—particularly with regard to criticizing attorneys who practice in the public’s courtrooms—is an issue of public concern. (VI AA981, 983 (Order, ¶¶ 39, 46).) The district court’s order correctly reflected that “[s]peech deals with matters of public concern when it can be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community.” (VI AA981 (Order, ¶¶ 40 (quoting *Snyder v. Phelps*, 562 U.S. 443, 451 (2001))).) The

Order noted that the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has broadened “the category of speech that touches on a matter of public concern.” (VI AA981 (Order, ¶ 41 (internal citations omitted)).) The Order further emphasized that “the operation of Nevada’s courtrooms is a matter of great public concern” and that reporting on (and criticism of) courtroom happenings is a tradition rooted in the First Amendment, which gives courts “a measure of accountability” and the public “confidence in the administration of justice.” (VI AA981-82 (Order, ¶¶ 42-45 (internal citations omitted)).)

In their Opening Brief, the Abrams Parties enumerate the five factor *Weinberg* test and briefly argue that each one weighs against the communications at issue being made in direct connection with issues of public interest. (OB, pp. 54 – 57.) However, the Abrams Parties’ narrow interpretation of “public interest” is at odds with the mandate that courts construe “public interest” broadly in the Anti-SLAPP context. *See* §5(B)(2)(a), *infra*. In light of this mandate, the *Weinberg* factors weigh in favor of the communications at issue being directly connected to a matter of public interest. Furthermore, the Abrams Parties fail to address the massive interest the public has in the operation of its courtrooms and those who practice in them. Thus, the Sanson Parties met their burden of establishing that their communications were directly connected with an issue of public interest.

a) Issues of Public Interest Must be Defined Broadly.

This Court recently reaffirmed the principle underpinning the district court’s determination that the communications at issue in this case concern matters of public interest: *issues of public interest are defined broadly*. *Coker*, 432 P.3d at 751. *See also Nygard, Inc. v. Uusi-Kerttula*, 72 Cal. Rptr. 3d 210, 220 (Cal. Ct. App. 2008) (“an issue of public interest within the meaning of [California’s anti-SLAPP statute] is *any issue in which the public is interested*”) (emphasis in original). As one court explained, “any doubt about whether the challenged statements relate to a matter of public interest must be resolved in favor of favoring freedom of speech, because ‘the question whether something is an issue of public interest must be ‘construed broadly.’” *Choyce v. SF Bay Area Indep. Media Ctr.*, No. 13-CV-01842-JST, 2013 WL 6234628, at *8 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 2, 2013) (citing *Hecimovich v. Encinal Sch. Parent Teacher Org.*, 203 Cal.App. 4th 4501, 464 (Cal. App. 2012), *review denied* (Apr. 25, 2012)).

b) Attorney Conduct in Court Is of Concern to a Substantial Number of People.

The Abrams Parties argue that “Ms. Abrams’ work as a family law lawyer does not impact a substantial number of people, but rather a relatively small specific audience.” (OB, p. 56.) This argument ignores that Ms. Abrams conduct in court is of concern to those in Clark County who may potentially find themselves in Family Court. This includes the millions of Clark County residents who are married,

divorced, have (or are) children, or otherwise may require the services of a family law attorney. These potential consumers are entitled to a broad range of opinions to determine which attorney they should retain. *See Chaker v. Mateo*, 209 Cal. App. 4th 1138, 1146, 147 Cal. Rptr. 3d 496, 502 (Cal. App. 2012) (criticism of plaintiff’s character and business practices plainly fall within in the rubric of consumer information and are thus public interests); *see also Healthsmart Pacific, Inc. v. Kabateck*, 7 Cal. App. 5th 416, 430, 212 Cal.Rptr.3d 589, 599 (Cal. App. 2016) (“members of the public, as consumers of medical services, have an interest in being informed of issues concerning particular doctors and healthcare facilities”).

The Abrams Parties make the dubious argument that “stating that something is attorney misconduct is not the same as discussing the general topic of [attorney] misconduct; only the latter is potentially subject to anti-SLAPP protection.” (OB, p. 58.) To support this contention, they cite to the unpublished case *Weiss v. Occidental Coll.*, No. B170384, 2004 WL 2502188, at *5 (Cal. Ct. App. Nov. 8, 2004). The Abrams Parties’ creative use of brackets disguises the fact that *Weiss* did not concern allegations regarding the conduct of attorneys in taxpayer-funded public courtrooms, which itself is a matter of public interest.⁷ Rather, *Weiss* concerned allegations

⁷ This Court has explained the public interest in attorney misconduct in the context of attorney disciplinary proceedings, which pertain to individual, rather than general, attorney misconduct: “[T]he paramount objective of bar disciplinary proceedings is not additional punishment of the attorney, but rather *to protect the public from persons unfit to serve as attorneys and to maintain public confidence in the bar as*

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